

Building the Future: An integrated strategy for nursing human resources in Canada

PHASE II FINAL REPORT







Phase II Final Report

This *Phase II Final Report* is part of an overall project entitled **Building the Future: An integrated strategy for nursing human resources in Canada**.

Publisher The Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Authors Med-Emerg Inc.

6711 Mississauga Road, Suite 404 Mississauga, Ontario, L5N 2W3

Project Management The Nursing Sector Study Corporation

99 Fifth Avenue, Suite 10 Ottawa, Ontario K1S 5K4

Phone (613) 233-1950

E-mail info@buildingthefuture.ca Website www.buildingthefuture.ca



This project is funded in part by the Government of Canada's Sector Council Program.

The opinions and interpretations in this publication are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect those of the Government of Canada



Table of Contents

Executive Summaryii	
1.0	Preamble1
2.0	Analysis of Cross-Jurisdictional Issues and Trends
3.0	Pan-Canadian or Cross-Jurisdictional Strategies and Opportunities6
4.0	Innovations in Federal/Provincial/Territorial Nursing HR Strategies14
5.0	Gap Analysis, Areas of Concern and Strengths15
6.0	Priority Pan-Canadian Strategies16
7.0	Broad Pan-Canadian Health Human Resources Context18
8.0	Next Steps22
Appendix A: Building The Future: Steering Committee Members23	
Appendix B: Participants at Jurisdictional Consultations	
Appendix C: Participants at Building the Future Invitational Conference	



Executive Summary

This report marks the culmination of the Nursing Sector Study. The five year study consisted of two phases, and examined the nursing workforce for all three regulated nursing professions in Canada (Licensed Practical Nurses (LPN) Registered Nurses (RN), and Registered Psychiatric Nurses (RPN)). Phase I, which concluded in December 2004, examined the state of nursing human resources in Canada. A series of 15 technical research reports were completed which covered areas such as nursing mobility, the international labour market, nursing education in Canada, and many others.

Phase II of the project got underway in the fall of 2005. The objective of Phase II was to develop a pan-Canadian nursing human resource (HR) strategy in consultation with government and non-government stakeholders that built on the findings and recommendations presented at the completion of Phase I. The technical research reports generated in Phase I were consolidated by province or territory and a series of jurisdictional consultations were held. Based on the feedback received from the jurisdictions, a summary report was created.

The consultations in general reaffirmed the information gathered in Phase I. The participants suggested a number of cross-jurisdictional trends, which in general followed the recommendations provided in the *Phase I Final Report*. A summary of the Phase I recommendations is as follows.

- Recommendation 1 Create a stable supply of nurses.
- Recommendation 2 Develop a pan-Canadian approach to nursing education in collaboration with the provincial, territorial and federal governments to prepare the number of qualified graduates needed to meet workforce needs.
- Recommendation 3 Enhance data collection to improve human resource planning.
- Recommendation 4 Use a Human Resource Planning Framework based on population health needs to plan for nurse resources.
- Recommendation 5 Use evidence-based practices to inform staffing decisions including retention and recruitment decisions.
- Recommendation 6 Implement effective and efficient mechanisms to address workload issues and improve patient, nurse, and system outcomes.
- Recommendation 7 Create work environments that maximize patient, nurse and system outcomes.
- Recommendation 8 Improve and maintain the health and safety of nurses.
- Recommendation 9 Develop innovative approaches to expand clinical experiences in nursing education.
- Recommendation 10 Maximize the ability of nurses to work in their full scope of practice.



It was evident from the consultations that many of the jurisdictions had already developed strategies to address the Phase I recommendations. The consultation participants also noted gaps in research, policy and funding that needed to be addressed. Among other things, they pointed to a general lack of awareness among policy- and decision-makers, a need for policies to support the wellness of nurses in the workplace and a lack of timely data to facilitate HHR planning. However, the participants did identify additional strategies to advance the work under each of the Phase I recommendations. Further, they noted that there was an imperative for interested stakeholders to cooperate to develop pan-Canadian strategies to address current issues facing the profession.

A report summarizing the consultation input formed the basis of the final step of Phase II – from April 30th to May 1st, 2006, nursing stakeholders from across the country met to review the strategies identified by the previous consultations. As a group they were tasked with setting top priorities among the strategies identified. Through a number of facilitated break-out groups, the following six strategies were identified as priorities for implementation:

- 1. There is a need to move away from the language of "scope of practice" and focus on developing management policy to facilitate nurses to practice to their level of competency in various clinical settings.
- 2. There is a need to broaden the nursing HR planning framework to be inclusive of other health professions; i.e., develop an integrated health professional health human resource strategy.
- 3. Given that forecasting models predict a large number of nurses leaving the nursing professions in the coming years (through normal attrition, retirement, etc.) there is a need to devote adequate funding to increase the supply of nurses by increasing the capacity of nursing education programs in Canada.
- 4. Compile "Best Practices" that outline effective workplace strategies that create effective working environments, and maximize nurse and system outcomes.
- 5. Create a coordinated pan-Canadian strategy to inform health system managers and policy-makers regarding the relationship between workload and quality of patient care and nurse health.
- 6. Address issues related to workplace health and safety and working environments to ameliorate the effects of overwork and burnout.

Noting that nursing HR planning should not be done in isolation, the present report closes with an examination of the other health human resources (HHR) initiatives that have been underway in this country. The work of the Advisory Committee on Health Delivery and Human Resources (ACHDHR) and Task Force Two (a study of physician HR) are two studies that share many common features with the Nursing Sector Study. The reports of all three studies recommend that needs-based HHR planning be established as a national standard. Furthermore, both the nurses and the physicians recommend that an infrastructure for HHR planning be established, with the analytical capacity, infrastructure support, and a governance model to coordinate a pan-Canadian needs-based approach to HHR planning.



The need to implement this pan-Canadian approach at the jurisdictional and community level is consistent in all reports. Another theme that is evident in each of the three reports is an emphasis on collaborative practice through inter-professional teams. Finally, the need for developing comprehensive approaches to recruitment and retention of health professionals is emphasized as one of the critical issues needed to ensure access to quality health care in Canada. Dialogue with all stakeholders should create a collaborative agenda for action across jurisdictions and among communities.

The Nursing Sector Study has provided a better understanding of nursing HR issues and more importantly, consensus has been reached on the key strategies for implementation. However, implementation plans still need to be developed to ensure that the strategies will be undertaken. Linkages have been established to ensure that nursing HR is tied into the greater Canadian HHR picture. This momentum needs to be continued to ensure that the important work of the Nursing Sector Study benefits patients, providers, and the Canadian health care system.



1.0 Preamble

This report marks the culmination of the Nursing Sector Study. The five year study consisted of two phases, and examined the nursing workforce for all three regulated nursing professions in Canada (Licensed Practical Nurses (LPN) Registered Nurses (RN), and Registered Psychiatric Nurses (RPN)). Phase I, which concluded in December 2004, examined the state of nursing human resources in Canada. A series of 15 technical research reports were completed, which covered areas such as nursing mobility, the international labour market, and nursing education in Canada, among others.

The Nursing Sector Study was directed by a Steering Committee comprised of representatives from the following groups: LPNs, RNs, RPNs, employers, unions, educators, physicians, and provincial, territorial and federal governments. Appendix A provides a list of the Steering Committee members.

Phase I of the Nursing Sector Study involved conducting research to better understand the factors that significantly influence nursing human resources (HR). The research involved extensive consultation and research projects that included surveys, interviews, literature reviews, and other commissioned research initiatives. In addition to the *Phase I Final Report* and the *Research Synthesis Report*, 13 of the 15 technical research reports were published in May 2005 as supporting documentation. Together these reports provide, for the first time, a comprehensive overview of nursing human resources in Canada.

Phase II of the Nursing Sector Study was initiated in the fall of 2005. The objective of Phase II was to develop a pan-Canadian nursing HR strategy in consultation with government and non-government stakeholders that builds on the findings and recommendations presented at the completion of Phase I. This project was funded in part by the Government of Canada's Sector Council Program, Health Canada and the nursing community.

In September of 2005, Med-Emerg Inc. was commissioned to prepare discussion papers for each of the provinces and territories in Canada with the exception of Quebec, Saskatchewan and Nunavut¹. These jurisdiction-specific discussion papers, written with the interests of nurses and policy-makers in mind, were intended to summarize relevant findings and recommendations from Phase I in order to facilitate stakeholder consultations.

The discussion papers were based on the findings of the technical research reports and were presented in the framework of the 10 recommendations contained in the *Phase I Final Report* of the Nursing Sector Study. Consultation participants included representatives from provincial/territorial and federal levels of government, employers (e.g., Regional Health Authorities, long-term care, community health care, public health), nursing unions, nursing regulatory bodies, nursing associations, and educational institutions (e.g., universities, community colleges). Appendix B provides a list of the participants in each jurisdictional consultations.

Quebec and Nunavut did not respond to requests for consultations. Saskatchewan completed provincial consultation on similar questions as part of the development of its Health Workforce Action Plan prior to implementation of Phase II of the Nursing Sector Study.



A similar format was used for each one of the consultation sessions to ensure consistency of presentation and reporting. Four questions served as the framework for the consultation sessions:

- 1. Do the existing jurisdictional plans/strategies address the findings and recommendations from Phase I? If yes, give some examples. If no, why not and where are the gaps?
- 2. What additional strategies are required to fill the gaps?
- 3. What are the enablers and challenges in the jurisdiction that need to be considered when implementing the recommendations/filling the gaps?
- 4. What needs to happen at a pan-Canadian level that would support the implementation of these recommendations in your area?

From these sessions "As Said" reports were prepared for each jurisdiction that outlined the discussions under each of the questions. The "As Said" reports were later distributed to participants in the respective federal/provincial/territorial consultation sessions. The reports form the basis for sections 2.0 to 5.0 of this report that identifies cross-jurisdictional strategies, opportunities, gaps, and areas of concern and strength with the intention of informing a pan-Canadian HR strategy to address nursing workforce issues.

Sections 2.0 to 5.0 were prepared using the following "As Said" Reports: Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Prince Edward Island, Ontario, Manitoba, British Columbia, Alberta, Yukon and the federal government². These sections of the paper represent the issues and trends that were identified by participants at those consultations. The relevant sections of this report should be read with this in mind.

From April 30th to May 1st, 2006, key federal, provincial and territorial stakeholders gathered in Ottawa for the *Building the Future* invitational conference. This two day conference offered a unique opportunity for participants to move the nursing human resources agenda forward. Participants examined the results from Phase I of the project as well as the findings discussed in sections 2.0 to 5.0 of this report. Sections 6.0 and 7.0 of this report present the outcomes of the conference.

The final section of this report provides suggestions for moving forward. Given the excellent progress and the momentum now behind the Nursing Sector Study, it is important to carry the ideas and strategies forward to ensure a stable and effective nursing workforce in the future.

² An As Said Report was not prepared for the Northwest Territories



2.0 Analysis of Cross-Jurisdictional Issues and Trends

A number of broad trends and themes emerged from the provincial and territorial consultation sessions. These common themes tend to apply to all the recommendations. They can be summarized as follows:

- 1. The findings from the federal, provincial and territorial consultation sessions reaffirmed the issues, concerns and general directions identified in the *Phase I Final Report*. The consultation sessions also reaffirm the merits of findings from the technical research reports and recommendations for action proposed in the *Phase I Final Report*. Quoting from the Nova Scotia report, "As one person said: It's good to see the stats and have what we knew at a 'gut level' reinforced".
- 2. Every province and territory recognizes the seriousness of the current and impending challenges facing the three nursing occupational groups and the growing imperative to take action to maintain the integrity of the nursing workforce in Canada. Failure to take appropriate action will only lead to a deterioration of the nursing workforce and ultimately this will continue to affect patient care.
- 3. There is a concern among nursing stakeholders that there is a lack of understanding "a disconnect" between what is going on at the ministry level and what the Nursing Sector Study is recommending. There is also a concern that senior decision-makers in health organizations and government lack a basic understanding of issues facing nurses in the clinical practice setting.
- 4. Since the release of the *Phase I Final Report* every jurisdiction in Canada has taken steps to act to a greater or lesser degree on the recommendations proposed in it. There is an opportunity to share "Best Practices" among jurisdictions to ensure available resources are utilized to their fullest extent. Most jurisdictions expressed a sense of frustration with the limited progress on a macro scale of addressing national HHR policy concerns. As one participant said, "It's time to stop talking and start acting!"
- 5. There is a need to ensure that there is adequate and appropriate staffing available to ensure nurses are able to provide a high quality of patient care in a manner that is safe for the patient and for the nurse. Nurses want to feel good about their work and want to practice their profession in a manner that is consistent with the goals and values that define the profession. Nurses also want to feel empowered to influence change.
- 6. It is worth noting that based on the findings of the "As Said" reports most of the provinces and territories recognize the benefits of collaboration and cooperation on a pan-Canadian level to manage nursing HR issues. Examples of inter-jurisdictional collaborative action include, among others, developing national standards on nursing education and licensure, standardizing the regulation and licensure of internationally trained nurses, creating avenues to facilitate inter-jurisdictional information sharing, and sharing "Best Practices".



- 7. There is a growing recognition that the ability of provinces and territories to act on the recommendations from Phase I is dependent on funding levels, having access to relevant information and evidence, access to avenues to promote collaboration with other health professional groups, and effective communication with regulatory bodies, governments, unions, employers, educational institutions, professional associations and the public regarding the issues facing the nursing professions.
- 8. Results from the consultation sessions highlighted the common concern among participants regarding the health and well-being of nurses, especially the physical health of more experienced nurses and the mental health of younger nurses.
- 9. One of the dominant themes that emerged from the consultations is the need to create and enhance opportunities for nurses to have meaningful involvement in decision-making (or informing decision-makers) at various levels in health organizations (including provincial and territorial policy), especially when those decisions affect nurses and patient care. There is a need to create opportunities for high profile nursing leadership positions at the provincial and territorial levels. In jurisdictions where Senior Nursing Advisors or Chief Nursing Officers (or similar positions) already exist, there is a need to enhance the capacity of these positions to permit input into decisions affecting the nursing professions and patient care.
- 10. It is acknowledged that evidence should form the basis of sound decision-making. However, in many instances this evidence is not available, or not easily accessed. Additional research is needed in a number of areas related to nursing HR planning, for example in the areas of workload measurement in different care settings, appropriate staff mix and workload management, among others. Coordination of research efforts across jurisdictions will ensure a concerted effort to address the concerns of a pan-Canadian nursing stakeholder audience. Consideration should be given to a pan-Canadian level funding body for nursing research. Moreover, there is a need to enhance capacity in the area of knowledge translation to ensure the outcomes of existing research can be used to inform policy development.
- 11. While the effects of the nursing shortage are being felt in every part of Canada, certain sectors and clinical settings face particular challenges in terms of the education, recruitment and retention of nurses in the three occupational groups. This includes, for example, rural, northern and remote areas and practice settings such as specialized areas in acute care, long-term care and community health nursing.



- 12. Providing health services to First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples and service commitments to the general population in northern and remote areas requires special attention. A comprehensive approach is required to the recruitment of young people from First Nations, Inuit and Métis communities into the nursing profession. Special consideration needs to be given to the process of educating First Nations, Inuit and Métis students, including sensitivity to culture, language, clinical placement, travel, separation from their home communities and funding.
- 13. There is a need to create networks and forums among interested stakeholders at a national level and among provinces and territories to foster communication and constructive dialogue on nursing issues that affect all regions of Canada.



3.0 Pan-Canadian or Cross-Jurisdictional Strategies and Opportunities

In the following section, the recommendations of the *Phase I Final Report* are used as a framework to present pan-Canadian or cross-jurisdictional strategies and opportunities put forth by participants in the jurisdictional consultations. Every effort has been made to summarize the prominent strategies expressed in each jurisdiction's "As Said" reports; however, it should be noted that on some issues not all provinces and territories are in agreement, or the views were not explicitly articulated in the consultation sessions. Insofar as it is possible, this report summarizes majority views.

In the "As Said" reports, it is evident that there is, to some extent, a lack of awareness of a number of initiatives currently underway to address the nursing shortage. The following section has stayed true to the strategies underway and the opportunities put forth by participants. Footnotes have been included to indicate where work is already underway.

Recommendation 1 – Create a stable supply of nurses.

Regarding the creation of a stable supply of nurses in Canada, a number of pan-Canadian strategies and opportunities were identified, including:

- Broaden the HHR planning framework to be inclusive of other health professions; i.e., develop an integrated health professional human resource strategy;
- Establish a clearinghouse for "best practices" related to the recruitment and retention and education of nurses in Canada;
- Address issues related to workplace health and safety, and working environments to ameliorate the effects of overwork and burnout; and.
- Standardize and streamline the process for the regulation and licensing of nurses among jurisdictions in Canada to facilitate mobility.³

Regarding internationally-educated nurses:

• Develop national standards to assess the competencies of internationally-educated nurses and establish supports to facilitate the integration of such nurses into Canadian society;⁴

⁴ Currently there are initiatives in progress to develop standards for international graduates and in many jurisdictions there are supports in place to assist with integration into Canadian society.



³ In most jurisdictions in Canada there exist Mutual Recognition Agreements that facilitate mobility.

- Address issues related to the immigration of internationally-educated nurses as a means to facilitate recruitment of nurses, including for example, transition planning, licensure, educational standards, etc.;⁵
- Work with Immigration Canada to identify and minimize barriers to the immigration of nurses while establishing policies to prohibit unethical "poaching" of nurses from developing countries; and,
- Harmonize requirements for registration for national and international graduates in nursing.

Recommendation 2 – Develop a pan-Canadian approach to nursing education in collaboration with the provincial, territorial and federal governments to prepare the number of qualified graduates needed to meet workforce needs.

Regarding the development of a pan-Canadian approach to nursing education the following strategies and opportunities were proposed:

- Establish a national strategy to promote the recruitment (and ongoing support) of First Nations, Inuit and Métis students in the nursing professions;
- Develop consistent pan-Canadian standards for nursing education in the three nursing occupational groups;
- Given that forecasting models predict a large number of nurses leaving the nursing professions in the coming years (through normal attrition, retirement, etc.) there is a need to devote adequate funding to increase the supply of nurses by increasing the capacity of nursing education programs in Canada;
- Financial assistance to nursing students as a recruitment tool is a common theme among provinces and territories. Examples cited included, funding assistance in the form of scholarships and bursaries, tax incentives for nurses who re-enter the profession, and programs to address tuition debt relief for nurses;
- There is an identified need to promote and provide ongoing support for graduate level education for nurses at the Masters and PhD level; and,
- Develop a long-term strategy to educate and recruit nursing faculty.

In 2005, an Internationally-educated Nurses (IEN) project, funded by HRSDC, was carried out. It provided an overview of the current policies, practices and procedures used by provincial/territorial nursing regulatory bodies for Licensed Practical Nurses, Registered Nurses, and Registered Psychiatric Nurses to assess IENs for licensure/registration in Canada. Factors which influence the integration of IENs into the Canadian nursing workforce were also identified.



Recommendation 3 – Enhance data collection to improve human resource planning.

Information serves as the foundation upon which human resource planning occurs. In this regard several pan-Canadian strategies and opportunities were identified:

- Develop a national database for nursing HR and make this information available to provinces and territories to facilitate HHR planning;⁶
- Establish standardized criteria for data collection to support nursing HR planning;⁷
- Develop a unique identifier for students and registrants in the three nursing occupational groups to permit long-term follow-up;
- Link the data from the Nursing Sector Study into vital statistics, cancer and other registries to follow a cohort over time;
- Validate existing frameworks and tools and develop new ones that facilitate needs-based approaches to HHR planning;⁸
- Develop a rapid response approach to the assessment of current, priority questions that require expert opinions and synthesis; and,
- Coordinate the activities of nursing research units to share results and develop common research agendas.

- Establishing sound health policy;
- Effectively managing the Canadian health system; and,
- Generating public awareness about factors affecting good health.

CIHI maintains supply-based national databases for nursing, including demographic, education and employment characteristics of the nursing workforce: the Registered Nurses database (1980 to the present); the Licensed Practical Nurses database (2002 to the present); and, the Registered Psychiatric Nurses databases (2002 to the present). CIHI is developing and enhancing the nursing databases. The current focus is on public health nurses, telehealth nurses and nurse practitioners.

- The Canadian Institute for Health Information coordinates and promotes the development and maintenance of national health information standards for collecting, processing and sharing health information. The Guidance Document for the Development of Data Sets to Support Health Human Resources Management in Canada (Tomblin-Murphy, O'Brien-Pallas, CIHI, February 2005) was developed using a consultative approach and is intended to serve as a tool for individuals and organizations across Canada as they begin to develop or enhance information systems to support Health Human Resources management.
- ⁸ The Canadian Nurses Association, through the Canadian Nurse Practitioner Initiative (CNPI), has developed a needs-based HHR planning simulation model for Nurse Practitioners in Primary Health Care.



⁶ The Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) works to coordinate the development and maintenance of a comprehensive and integrated approach to health information for Canada; and, to provide and coordinate the provision of accurate and timely data and information required for;

Recommendation 4 – Use a Human Resource Planning Framework based on population health needs to plan for nurse resources.

It is acknowledged that nursing human resources should closely match population health needs. The following pan-Canadian strategies and opportunities were identified:

- There is a need to develop information systems to facilitate the collection of standardized data on population health;
- Ensure that nursing HR and population health databases can be linked for planning purposes;
- Build capacity in the area of utilizing population health data as a resource for HR planning in nursing.

Recommendation 5 – Use evidence-based practices to inform staffing decisions including retention and recruitment decisions.

Regarding the use of evidence-based practices to inform staffing decisions, the following pan-Canadian strategies and opportunities were identified:

- Provide resources to support the development of tools to accurately assess workloads of nurses in various settings;⁹
- Consider the development of standards to regulate nurse staffing mix, nursing workloads, and maximum hours of work allowed in various practice settings;
- Consider the development of policies that will enable experienced nurses to play a mentorship/expert role for less experienced nurses in various clinical settings; and,
- Encourage nursing associations, regulatory bodies, employers or employers' associations and unions to adopt position statements on the effects of nurse staffing mix, ratios, education level, and workload management on patient, nurse and system outcomes.

⁹ There are two separate issues to be considered: retaining experienced nurses as well as appropriately compensating experienced nurses who play a mentorship role. For example, in most instances providing mentorship is not compensated financially, nor is their workload adjusted to accommodate the extra time needed to provide this service to other nurses. In most jurisdictions, there are no structured mentorship programs or guidelines. The Canadian Nurses Association has published a mentorship guide entitled *Achieving Excellence in Professional Practice: A Guide to Preceptorship and Mentoring*.



Regarding evidence-based practices to inform retention and recruitment strategies, the following strategy and opportunity was identified:

• Develop an infrastructure to collect and disseminate information on "Best Practice" related to retention and recruitment of nurses.

Recommendation 6 – Implement effective and efficient mechanisms to address workload issues and improve patient, nurse, and system outcomes.

Suggested pan-Canadian strategies and opportunities to address workload issues and improve nurse, patient and system outcomes were varied and included:

- There is a need to develop meaningful tools to assess nursing workloads in various clinical settings. Skill mix and standardized staffing ratios (and compensation models) to facilitate workload management should be explored;¹⁰
- Compile a synthesis of "Best Practices" related to the use of technology, staffing patterns and workload measurement and workload management for nurses as a means to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of nurses;
- Create a coordinated pan-Canadian strategy to inform health system managers and policy-makers regarding the relationship between workload and quality of patient care and nurse health;
- Senior Nurse Managers should occupy key leadership and policy-making roles in government and Regional Health Authorities; and,
- Results from the consultations highlighted the frustration among nurses that there are not enough funded full time positions for new graduates, even though nurses currently working full time are working a considerable amount of mandatory overtime.

National Associations of LPNs, RNs, and RPNs have developed and published Evaluation Framework to Determine the Impact of Nursing Staff Mix Decisions.



Recommendation 7 – Create work environments that maximize patient, nurse and system outcomes.

It was widely acknowledged that the work environment plays a significant role in the health and well-being of nurses and this, in turn, affects the delivery of safe, quality patient care. In this regard, there were several pan-Canadian strategies and opportunities identified:

- Compile "Best Practices" that outline effective workplace strategies that create effective working environments, and maximize nurse and system outcomes; 11
- Evaluate and implement strategies that utilize various forms of technology to enhance nursing work environments across Canada;
- Conduct research to evaluate workplace innovations and best practices in other jurisdictions (national and international); and,
- Focus on developing nurse leadership skills and engage in succession planning for nursing management.¹²

Recommendation 8 – Improve and maintain the health and safety of nurses.

Implementing policies to ensure the health and safety of nurses is paramount to maintaining a stable and productive workforce. Pan-Canadian strategies and opportunities to improve and maintain the health and safety of nurses include:

- Incorporate elements of workplace health and safety for nurses in the accreditation standards of the Canadian Council on Health Services Accreditation;¹³
- Collect and evaluate "Best Practices" in Canada to disseminate strategies to improve the health and safety of nurses, limit overtime and number of hours worked, and support for nurses working in isolated settings;
- Workplace violence is an ongoing concern for nurses in most practice settings, especially in areas such as northern and remote areas, long-term care and mental health. Research into causes, risk management, prevention and intervention strategies needs to be conducted and risk reduction strategies need to be developed to attend to security and workplace violence; and,

¹³ The Canadian Council on Health Services Accreditation has incorporated work life as a key dimension of the Council's standards and accreditation programs.



Registered Nurses Association of Ontario has developed Healthy Work Environments Best Practice Guidelines for Nurses.

There are several nursing and health professional leadership programs in Canada, for example, the Dorothy Wylie Institute, Saskatchewan Institute of Health Leadership and ongoing continuing professional development programs.

• There is a need to educate employers, law enforcement personnel and the legal system regarding the seriousness of workplace violence against nurses. Collaborative partnerships need to be developed to eliminate workplace violence.

Recommendation 9 – Develop innovative approaches to expand clinical experiences in nursing education.

The results from the consultations with the federal government and provinces and territories revealed that there are several innovative practices currently being utilized across Canada. There are, however, further opportunities to expand clinical experiences to meet the educational needs of nurses. Potential pan-Canadian strategies and opportunities include:

- Developing an inventory of existing practices to expand clinical educational experiences currently in use across Canada and internationally;
- Exploring the full potential of technology to enhance learning opportunities for nurses in Canada; for example, web based learning, telehealth, and simulation labs. These learning opportunities should be available on a national basis. Ontario, for example, has recently purchased simulation lab equipment for all of the province; this type of service could be made available on a pan-Canadian basis;
- Develop innovative opportunities to integrate student placements across sectors, (including federal departments that employ nurses) increase simulated learning experiences, and fund clinical experiences in a variety of geographical areas including rural and remote areas;
- Explore the development of pan-Canadian clinical learning experiences;
- Develop opportunities for First Nations, Inuit, and Métis students to do clinical placements in culturally appropriate settings;
- Clinical education experiences need to be expanded for various settings, including rural and northern and remote areas, long-term care, community and public health settings, as well as institutionally-based acute care;
- There is a need to recognize and compensate the role of the preceptor/mentor in clinical education;
- There is a need to provide adequate funding including financial and travel support for rural and remote nurses for ongoing clinical and continuing education for all three nursing occupational groups; and,
- Special consideration needs to be made for Francophone students (and students from other cultural groups) to ensure adequate learning opportunities.



Recommendation 10 – Maximize the ability of nurses to work in their full scope of practice.

The federal, provincial, territorial consultations highlighted the need to ensure that policy facilitates the ability for the three nursing occupational groups to work to their full scope of practice. In this regard, the following pan-Canadian strategies and opportunities were proposed:

- There is a need to improve communication and facilitate dialogue among the three nursing occupational groups and other health professionals;
- There is a need to conduct and support further research that supports nurses working to their full scope of practice. There is also a need to disseminate the results of existing research;
- There is a need for organizations to ensure organizational policy eliminates non-nursing duties for nurses; and,
- There is a need to move away from the language of "scope of practice" and focus on developing management policy to facilitate nurses to practice to their level of competency in various clinical settings.



4.0 Innovations in Federal/Provincial/Territorial Nursing Human Resources Strategies

Federal, provincial and territorial policy initiatives to ameliorate the nursing shortage often predate the Nursing Sector Study. Indeed, it was the concerns expressed by the provinces and territories (government, professional associations, employers, unions, etc.) and national nursing stakeholders that were the genesis for the Nursing Sector Study.

Federal, provincial and territorial nursing stakeholders continue to develop innovative strategies and build capacity to address short- and long-term issues facing the three nursing occupational groups and the health care system more generally. These strategies, in general, closely match the strategies and recommendations proposed in the *Phase I Final Report*. Federal, provincial and territorial initiatives have been developed to address priority issues that have been identified within each jurisdiction. Strategies are at various stages of implementation and evaluation.

A detailed listing of federal, provincial and territorial initiatives is contained in the *Book of Innovations*¹⁴.

Nursing Sector Study Corporation. (2006). Conference Program and Book of Innovations. Ottawa: Author. pp. 13-31



5.0 Gap Analysis, Areas of Concern and Strengths

A number of areas of concern and gaps (in policy, knowledge and resources) were identified during the consultation sessions. These include:

- There is an ongoing need to address the general lack of awareness of decision-makers and policy-makers in health organizations and governments (indeed, at all levels of the health care system) regarding the current and future problems facing the nursing profession;
- The persistent problem of a lack of financial and human resources to address identified concerns in nursing HR planning;
- There is a need for additional funding to support the education of nursing students (bursaries and funds to enhance the capacity of nursing schools);
- There is a need to provide additional funding to support policies to enhance the health (physical and mental) and well-being of nurses practicing in the field;
- A limited amount of timely, relevant nursing-specific data to facilitate immediate and long-term HHR planning; and,
- It is acknowledged that in Canada nursing leadership is aging and that there is a need for formal succession planning. The impending shortage of nurses has not been fully realized and there is a strong imperative to take immediate action in this area.

Not all of what was said in the consultation sessions focused on gaps and areas of concern. There was a strong sense of a willingness and internal capacity among professional nurses to address the problems facing their professions. There is strong evidence of a desire for collaborative action using creative approaches to address immediate and long-term issues.

It was noted that the essential components are present to support the development of pan-Canadian strategies to address current issues facing the profession and to implement the recommendations presented in the *Phase I Final Report*. Moreover, within nursing there are strong relationships between and among academics, clinical nurses, and nursing leadership; a foundation upon which new and innovative strategies can be launched to address gaps and areas of concern.

There are many creative and innovative initiatives currently being utilized in many parts of the country addressing a variety of nursing concerns. While existing federal, provincial and territorial strategies and initiatives may not represent the ideal, there is a strong willingness to work together and with other stakeholders to constantly improve the nursing HR planning process. Federal, provincial and territorial templates for nursing HR planning exist and there is an opportunity to constantly improve these processes.

It is also worth noting that the jurisdictional consultation process was a valuable tool to exchange concerns and ideas, promote dialogue, build new understandings and engage in knowledge translation and dissemination on issues related to nursing human resources among interested stakeholders.



6.0 Priority Pan-Canadian Strategies

The *Building the Future* Invitational Conference assembled key nursing stakeholders from across the country. These stakeholders were brought together to identify key areas for moving forward. There were many innovative ideas suggested during Phase I and the jurisdictional consultations; however, not all of these strategies or opportunities can be pursued simultaneously. As a result, it was necessary to gain consensus on the key areas in which to proceed. During the conference, participants broke into table groups to discuss the key strategies as identified in section 3.0 of this report. Each group was asked to identify their top five pan-Canadian strategies as well as timelines for implementation, implementation approach and lead organizations for implementation. The groups each provided a work sheet with this information to the conference organizers. The organizers tabulated the information and identified those strategies which were most often cited. The six key strategies identified by the conference participants are listed below in no particular order.

While there was a fair amount of consensus on the key strategies, the issues of implementation were less clear. Some of the groups did not identify implementation plans while others identified a mix of lead organizations and collaborating organizations. Provided under each of the key strategies below is an overview of some of the agreement on implementation plans.

There is a need to move away from the language of "scope of practice" and focus on developing management policy to facilitate nurses to practice to their level of competency in various clinical settings. (Phase I Final Report, Recommendation 10, bullet 4)

Of the 23 table groups, five chose this as one of their key strategies. All but one of these five groups felt that professional associations should be involved either in a lead or supporting capacity in implementing the strategy. In addition, all of the groups identified timelines which fell into a 1-3 year range. They all felt that this was something that needed to be addressed in the short-term. It was suggested that the interdisciplinary team approach within a culture of trust should advance this strategy. It was also suggested that the goal of this strategy should be that 80% of nurses are working to their full level of competency by 2012.

There is a need to broaden the nursing HR planning framework to be inclusive of other health professions; i.e., develop an integrated health professional human resource strategy. (Phase I Final Report, Recommendation 1, bullet 1)

Nine of the 23 tables felt that this strategy was a top priority. The majority of groups which chose this strategy felt that it was the federal government that should take a lead on this with a handful mentioning either Health Canada or the Advisory Committee on Health Delivery and Human Resources (ACHDHR). In terms of supporting organizations, many pointed to nursing professional associations, unions, employers, educators and provincial/territorial ministries of health. There was agreement that this was a strategy that needed to be pursued immediately, with two years as the longest timeframe. It was felt that some sort of national HHR planning committee or directorate would be the most effective means to implement the strategy. Qualifiers included that it be evidence-based and patient-centered, and that it be inclusive of other health professional groups.



Given that forecasting models predict a large number of nurses leaving the nursing professions in the coming years (through normal attrition, retirement, etc)., there is a need to devote adequate funding to increase the supply of nurses by increasing the capacity of nursing education programs in Canada. (Phase I Final Report, Recommendation 2, bullet 3)

Of the 23 tables, 11 felt that this needed to be a top priority for nursing HR planning. Most groups felt that nursing educators and governments should work together to ensure that this strategy is successfully implemented. Many saw a significant role for the Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing (CASN). Of the seven tables which addressed the issue of a timeline, six felt that the strategy should be pursued in the short-term, while the other felt that it was a medium-term strategy. There was limited agreement on the methodology for implementing this strategy.

Compile "Best Practices" that outline effective workplace strategies that create effective working environments, and maximize nurse and system outcomes. (Phase I Final Report, Recommendation 7, bullet 1)

Six table groups identified this as a key strategy. Of the six, only three addressed the question of who the lead organization should be. Two felt that some form of national organization should take the lead, while the third felt that it should be up the regulatory colleges and groups such as unions and employers. There was also limited agreement in terms of a timeline. Of the three groups that addressed a timeline, one felt that the strategy should be dealt with immediately, one felt that two years would be appropriate, and one felt that this was a mid-term strategy. There was no clear agreement on the approach to the implementation of this strategy.

Create a coordinated pan-Canadian strategy to inform health system managers and policy-makers regarding the relationship between workload and quality of patient care and nurse health. (Phase I Final Report, Recommendation 6, bullet 3)

Nine groups felt that this strategy should be one of the key priorities for moving forward. Of these groups, five felt that the federal government in some form (Health Canada or HRSDC) should take the lead. Two felt that it should be data organizations such as CIHI, and the final two offered different solutions with one suggesting regional health authorities and the other suggesting the three regulated nursing groups. In terms of supporting organizations, three groups felt that unions and professional associations could play a role. Of the nine groups, five felt that this strategy should be implemented in the short-erm.

Address issues related to workplace health and safety and working environments to ameliorate the effects of overwork and burnout. (Phase I Final Report, Recommendation 1, bullet 3)

Of the 23 tables, five addressed this strategy as one of their top priorities. Three felt that this would best be dealt with at the national level. In terms of supporting organizations, two felt that regulatory bodies should play a role and two felt that unions should be involved. Two years was suggested as the timeline for implementing this strategy. There was no agreement on implementation approach for this strategy.



7.0 Broad Pan-Canadian Health Human Resources Context

This report represents the culmination of Phase I and Phase II of the Nursing Sector Study. While the study has developed a wealth of information on nursing HR, this has not been developed in isolation. Other health professions, as well as federal and provincial/territorial governments, have been working on projects meant to address HHR issues. This section provides an overview of two of these projects (ACHDHR and Task Force Two) and the linkages that exist between all three HHR advancements.

ACHDHR

The *Pan-Canadian HHR Strategy* consists of three components: Health Human Resources Planning, Recruitment and Retention, and Inter-professional Education for Collaborative Patient-Centred Practice (IECPCP). Projects aligned with each of these components are progressing at the federal and jurisdictional levels. The HHR Strategy (2006-2010) is now being considered based on lessons-learned in phase one.

Furthermore, the Conference of Deputy Ministers of Health (CDM) tasked ACHDHR with developing a *Framework for Collaborative Pan-Canadian Health Human Resources Planning* in 2004/2005. In turn, the ACHDHR tasked its HHR Planning Subcommittee to prepare the document, which was approved by the CDM and subsequently by the federal/provincial/territorial Ministers of Health on October 22-23, 2005. The *Framework* makes the case for a collaborative approach to HHR planning and outlines an Action Plan to guide planners and other stakeholders in achieving a more stable, effective health workforce.

In all jurisdictions the goal of the pan-Canadian *Framework* is to increase capacity to: 1) plan for the optimal number, mix, and distribution of health care providers based on system design, service delivery models and population health needs; 2) work closely with employers and the education system to develop a health workforce that has the skills and competencies to provide safe, high quality care, work in innovative environments, and respond to changing health care system and population health needs; 3) achieve the appropriate mix of health providers and deploy them in service delivery models that make full use of their skills; and, 4) build and maintain a sustainable workforce in healthy safe work environments.

This *Framework* is based on a needs-based approach to HHR planning and emphasizes the need for collaborative action among governments and other stakeholders to achieve its goals and to reduce duplicate activities and investments. Guided by this *Framework*, jurisdictions will continue to develop and implement their own HHR policies, plans, and service delivery models. It is anticipated that the pan-Canadian *Framework* will help to reduce duplication and lower the resources required to conduct HHR planning within individual jurisdictions, increase ability to influence the drivers of the health care system, reduce competition among jurisdictions for limited HHR, encourage mobility of the health workforce, and avoid situations of over and under supply of the workforce. The pan-Canadian *Framework* recognizes that HHR planning happens in a system, is driven by population health system design and models of delivery, and is based on population health needs.



Task Force Two

Task Force Two was formed in 2001 as a collaborative partnership of major Canadian medical organizations, the Government of Canada, provincial and territorial governments and representatives from the public and other health professions across the country. Its mandate was to undertake a comprehensive examination of the labour market for physicians, and to develop options for a long-term physician human resource strategy that are sensitive to Canada's provincial and territorial realities. The recently released final report¹⁵ outlines long-term strategies for five theme areas: education and training; inter-professionalism; recruitment and retention; licensure, regulatory issues and liability; and, infrastructure and technology. Strategic directions and core strategies are offered in each of these five theme areas.

The final report of Task Force Two emphasizes that it is critical to enhance the ability of the health care system to adapt to change. It emphasizes the need to plan for physician resources and other health human resources in a responsive flexible manner recognizing changing delivery methods. It also emphasizes the need for a pan-Canadian approach for ongoing HHR planning for physicians and other health care providers that is responsive to Canadians' changing health care needs.

Major Themes of the Three Reports

Based on these three reports (the present report and those of ACHDHR and Task Force Two) it remains clear that nurses, physicians, and federal, provincial, and territorial governments are committed to delivering the best quality health care to Canadians. With increasing pressure on health care resources, a pandemic on the horizon and new ways to deliver care being emphasized, the need for change is paramount. Both the Nursing Sector Study and Task Force Two suggest that steps are needed to address the shortages of nurses and physician supply to meet population health need.

The need for leadership that articulates a vision of the future is reinforced in the reports. A willingness to commit to a process of dialogue is required to arrive at the best approaches to partner on shared agendas. The emphasis on health care services is dominant, with the notion of health care services bridging provider supply and population need.

A competency-based approach and providers working to their full scope of practice are themes which are inherent in the strategies identified in the reports. There seems to be recognition that changes in service delivery and advances in medical technology mean that the education of and the role for health care providers are changing.

¹⁵ Task Force Two: A Physician Human Resource Strategy for Canada. (2006). A Physician Human Resource Strategy for Canada: Final Report. Ottawa: Author.



Ways to provide safe/quality workplaces and the best strategies to support the team-centered approach to care are also consistent themes across the reports. Preparing the future health care workforce to work in teams in the delivery of health services is an ongoing challenge, a challenge that the stakeholders have clearly made a priority.

Needs-based planning seems to be central to each of the reports and action plans. To face both short- and long-term challenges, pan-Canadian needs-based HHR planning should involve all stakeholders (governments, academia, regulatory bodies, researchers, civic society, private sector, First Nations, Inuit and Métis, professional organizations/associations and mass media). However, even though the approach has a pan-Canadian emphasis, it will need to be implemented at the jurisdictional and community level. The need to enhance data and analytical capacity to carry out HHR planning has been very apparent.

What is not clear is how needs are defined and how they will be measured as well as who will lead the planning, and when and how this will be carried out. All reports emphasize the need to establish research agendas to determine ways to define and measure needs, and to determine whether team approaches to care lead to favourable outcomes for patients, the system, and providers. The need to invest in data and tools to enhance HHR planning and policy is emphasized in all reports.

A national planning mechanism for HHR is a recurring theme in the reports. Nurses and physicians recommend that an infrastructure for HHR planning be established, with the analytical capacity, infrastructure support, and a governance model to coordinate a pan-Canadian needs-based approach to HHR planning. The need to implement this pan-Canadian approach at the jurisdictional and community level is consistent in all reports.

What is not clear is the relationship between these health care providers groups, other health care provider groups, and ACHDHR in this mechanism. There is a need to dialogue about this notion with appropriate stakeholders to determine buy in and the process to move forward with a shared vision.

Working in teams is a theme that exists in the reports. However, the Nursing Sector Study did not emphasize the team-centred approach required in both approaches to education and health care delivery. At the same time there has been a large effort to renew Canada's publicly-funded health care system, and one key feature of these renewal efforts has been primary health care (PHC) reform and the development of inter-professional teams. It is articulated across reports that integrated care, provided by members of various professions, is required to address the changing health care delivery methods and the changing health needs of Canadians. These reports emphasize the need for students and providers to be ready to engage in inter-professional collaborative practice where all health care providers have clearly identified and valued roles.

The need for developing comprehensive approaches to recruitment and retention of health professionals is emphasized as one of the critical issues needed to ensure access to quality health care in Canada. Dialogue with all stakeholders should create a collaborative agenda for action across jurisdictions and among communities. Major themes reflected in each of the reports are similar and include issues



such as education and training; inter-professionalism; recruitment and retention; licensure, regulatory issues and liability; and, infrastructure and technology.

The need to address and develop special measures for groups where health inequities are evident such as for First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples, people living in rural, remote, northern, inner-city and isolated communities, and where shortages of providers are predicted is a consistent message among the reports.

Another consistent theme is the need is to develop and invest in policies that: 1) address what is known about the factors that impact on practice choices and practice locations; 2) support models of service delivery that recognize the full range of professional activities; and, 3) serve to attract and retain providers.



8.0 Next Steps

This report represents the culmination of the most comprehensive examination of nursing human resources in Canada to have been undertaken. Many of the strategies identified in the consultation sessions build on the 10 recommendations from Phase I and are directed primarily toward provincial and territorial governments, employers, educational institutions, unions and nursing stakeholder groups. In this regard, there is already evidence of significant innovation in the area of nursing HR strategy development. Translating research into policy and practice plays an important role in improving the efficiency and effectiveness of Canada's health care system.

The important question remains, "What are the next steps in stabilizing the nursing workforce and more important, who will implement the recommendations and pan-Canadian strategies identified by the Nursing Sector Study?" The responsibility for implementing the recommendations and strategy development is a shared responsibility and will require the cooperation of a wide range of stakeholders including employers, educators, governments, unions, regulators, nursing professional associations, and other health professional associations among others. Moreover, federal, provincial and territorial nursing human resource strategies need to be integrated into the larger HHR planning agenda. Coordination between and among for example, the Nursing Sector Study, the physician sector study, the home care sector study, the pharmacy sector study, and other HHR planning initiatives is paramount to promoting an integrated HHR strategy for Canada.

While at present there is no formal structure or processes in place to move forward on pan-Canadian strategies, the ACHDHR has expressed interest in continuing dialogue with representatives from the nursing and physician sector studies. Opportunity exists to continue the integration of knowledge gained from various HHR sector studies by bringing together policy-makers, health professionals, unions, educators and researchers in appropriate policy forums.

Despite the progress achieved and the willingness to act, there are still significant issues facing the nursing labour market, which are not specific to Canada and are largely influenced by the global marketplace. These issues include low morale, high absenteeism, job dissatisfaction, not to mention chronic shortages and an aging workforce. Nurses in Canada are part of a global marketplace and trends in one country affect the workforce in other countries. There is a need to develop new mechanisms for sharing our experiences in implementing various strategies with others across Canada and internationally.

Despite the progress in addressing nursing human resources issues, the greatest challenges are still yet to come. It is important to capitalize on the momentum that has been built in Phase II. The Nursing Sector Study provides decision-makers with a strong foundation upon which to move into the future with a sense of optimism and hope. Innovation, born out of necessity, will serve as a basis upon which to respond to the challenges facing the nursing professions in Canada in the coming years.



Appendix A: Building the Future: Steering Committee Members Organizations

Aboriginal Nurses Association of Canada (A.N.A.C.)

Margaret Horn

Lisa Dutcher (Past Member)

Advisory Committee on Health Delivery and Human Resources (ACHDHR)

Anita Ludlow

Lynn St. Pierre-Ellis

Barbara Oke (Past Member)

Anne Sutherland-Boal (Past Member)

Association of Canadian Community Colleges (ACCC)

Louise Frederick

Canadian Alliance of Community Health Centres Association (CACHCA)

Rosemary White (Past Member)

Lorraine Melchoir (Past Member)

Canadian Association for Community Care (CACC)

Dalyce Greenslade

Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing (CASN)

Dr. Marianne Lamb

Canadian Federation of Nurses Unions (CFNU)

Debra McPherson

Linda Silas

Canadian Healthcare Association (CHA)

Sharon Sholzberg-Gray

Dr. Della Faulker

Kathryn Tregunna (Past Member)

Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI)

Francine Anne Roy

Jill Strachan (Past Member)

Canadian Nurses Association (CNA)

Lisa Little (Co-Chair)

Mary-Ellen Jeans (Past Co-Chair, Past Member)



Canadian Practical Nurses Association (CPNA)

Patricia Fredrickson

Verna Holgate (Past Co-Chair, Past Member)

Canadian Union of Public Employees (CUPE)

Stan Marshall

Health Canada

Sandra MacDonald-Rencz (Office of Nursing Policy)

Susan Hicks (Office of Nursing Policy)

Pat L Cruickshank (First Nations and Inuit Health Branch)

Fadi El-Jardali (Office of Nursing Policy) (Past Member)

Patricia Walsh (Office of Nursing Policy) (Past Member)

Home Care Sector Study Corporation (HCSSC)

Nadine Henningsen

Human Resources and Skills Development Canada (HRSDC)

Heidi Bungay

Eva Amzallag (Past Member)

Paul Stoll (Past Member)

Phil Mickle (Past Member)

Licensed Practical Nurses Educator

Diane Shamray

National Union of Public and General Employee (NUPGE)

Mike Luff

Ordre des infirmières et infirmiers auxiliaires du Québec (OIIAQ)

Gaétan Lévesque

Ordre des infirmières et infirmiers du Québec (OIIQ)

Marie Valois (Past Member)

Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada (PIPSC)

Marie Mertler

Lyette Babin (Past Member)

Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Canada (RPNC)

Annette Osted (Co-Chair)

Donna Higenbottam



Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Canada Educator

Dr. Michel Tarko

John Crawford (Past Member; Deceased)

Service Employees International Union Canada (SEIU)

Kate Lawton (Past Member)

Task Force Two: A Human Resource Strategy for Physicians in Canada

Dr. Nick Busing

Victorian Order of Nurses of Canada (VON)

Susan Vandevelde-Coke

Management Committee

Canadian Federation of Nurses Unions

Debra McPherson Linda Silas

Canadian Healthcare Association

Sharon Sholzberg-Gray

Canadian Nurses Association

Lisa Little (Co-Chair)

Canadian Practical Nurses Association

Verna Holgate (Past Member)

Canadian Union of Public Employees

Stan Marshall

Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Canada

Annette Osted (Co-Chair)

Advisory Committee on Health Delivery and Human Resources (ACHDHR)

Anita Ludlow

Lynn St. Pierre-Ellis



Human Resources and Skills Development Canada

Heidi Bungay

Health Canada

Sandra MacDonald-Rencz



Appendix B: Participants at Jurisdictional Consultations

Alberta

Jeanne Besner

Calgary Health Region, Research Initiatives in Nursing and Health

Cathy Bilor

Clinical Nursing and Practice Leaders Network

Pat Fredrickson

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta

Susan Hicks

Office of Nursing Policy, Health Canada

Noreen Linton

Clinical Nursing and Practice Leaders Network

Sheila McKay

College and Association of Registered Nurses of Alberta

Carol Murray

Clinical Nursing and Practice Leaders Network

Annette Osted

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Roberta Parker

Alberta Health and Wellness

Lynn Redfern

College and Association of Registered Nurses of Alberta

Tamara Richter

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta

Sharlene Standing

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta

Linda Stangor

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta

Heather Young

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada

British Columbia

Lynette Best

Providence Health, Vancouver Coastal Health Authority

Ginger Brown

British Columbia Ministry of Health

Laurel Brunke

College of Registered Nurses of British Columbia

Priya Chetty

Health Canada

Diane Clements

British Columbia Ministry of Health

Jacquie Dale

Facilitator – Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Kim Dougherty

Fraser Health Authority

Johanne Fort

British Columbia Ministry of Advanced Education / British Columbia Ministry of Health

Tom Fulton

Interior Health Authority

Vivian Giglio

Abbotsford and Mission Health Services Fraser Health Authority



Donna Higenbottam

College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of British Columbia

Karen Jewell

Health Employers Association of British Columbia

Suzanne Johnston

Northwest Region, Northern Health Authority

Janice Joyce

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of British Columbia

Pat Kasprow

Health Care Leaders of British Columbia

Jacqollyne Keath

College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of British Columbia

Kane Kilbey

Vancouver Island Health Authority

Lisa Little

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Gordon MacDonald

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of British Columbia

Heather Mass

Children's and Women's Health Centre of British Columbia, Provincial Health Services Authority

Amy McCutcheon

Vancouver Coastal Health Authority

Sherry Moller

Union of Psychiatric Nurses British Columbia

Mary-Jean Morrison

British Columbia Ministry of Health

Sylvia Neden

Hospital Employees Union

Annette Osted

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Pam Ratner

University of British Columbia

Sandra Regan

College of Registered Nurses of British Columbia

Zuile Sachedina

Providence Health, Vancouver Coastal Health Authority

Carol Scobie

University-College Schools of Nursing, Camosun College

Pat Seminiuk

Vancouver Coastal Health Authority

Anne Shannon

British Columbia Nurses Union, Canadian Federation of Nurses Unions

Petra St.Pierre

British Columbia Nurses Union

Mike Tarko

Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Canada

Sally Thorne

School of Nursing, University of British Columbia

Cathy Ulrich

Northern Health Authority



Evelyn Voyageur

Native and Inuit Nurses Association of British Columbia

Patricia Wejr

British Columbia Nurses Union

Federal

Deb Archibald

Office of Nursing Services Health Canada

Brenda Canitz

Office of Nursing Services, Health Canada

Priya Chetty

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada, Pacific

Pat Cruickshank

Office of Nursing Services, Health Canada

Joan Edwards

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada, Ontario

Lelia Gillis

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada, Atlantic

Susan Hicks

Office of Nursing Policy, Health Canada

Lynda Kushnir-Perkul

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada, Saskatchewan

Lisa Little

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Josephine Muxlow

Clinical Nurse Specialist

Barbara Oke

Office of Nursing Services, Health Canada

Annette Osted

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Lucie Poliquin

Correction Services Canada

Chantal Renaud

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada, Quebec

Pamela Seitz

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada, Manitoba

Heather Smith

Office of Nursing Services, Health Canada

Charlotte Thompson

Office of Nursing Services, Health Canada

Heather Young

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada, Alberta

Manitoba

Liz Ambrose

Workforce Policy and Planning, Manitoba Health

Belinda Blanchard

Manitoba Council of Health Care Unions



Dr. Dean Care

University of Manitoba

Judy Coleman

North Eastman Regional Health Authority

Jan Currie

Winnipeg Regional Health Authority

Cheryl Cusack

Workforce Policy and Planning, Manitoba Health

Donna Forbes

Assistant Deputy Minister, Manitoba Health

Terry Goertzen

Workforce Policy and Planning, Manitoba Health

Dr. David Gregory

University of the North

Maureen Hancharyk

Manitoba Nurses Union

Karen Hargreaves

Assiniboine Community College

Susan Hicks

Office of Nursing Policy, Health Canada

Verna Holgate

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Manitoba

Gisele Lapointe

Collège universitaire de St. Boniface

Lisa Little

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Janice McDonald

Manitoba Nurses Union

Sandi Mowat

Manitoba Nurses Union

Bev Ann Murray

Assistant Deputy Minister, Manitoba Health

Sue Neilson

College of Registered Nurses of Manitoba

Laura Panteluk

College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Manitoba

Lynda Stiles

Brandon Regional Health Authority

Karen Terlinski

Manitoba Nurses Union

Karen Wall

Red River College

Arlene Wilgosh

Deputy Minister of Health and Healthy Living

New Brunswick

Sue Barrie

Member of the Nursing Resources Advisory Committee, representing Nursing Home Services, Department of Family and Community Services

Valerie Black

Canadian Union of Public Employees

Liette Clement

École science infirmière, Université de Moncton, Campus Shippagan



Dr. Heather Dow

Member of the Nursing Resources Advisory Committee, representing the New Brunswick Medical Society

Bruno Ferron

Planning and Medicare Services, Department of Health

Lynda Finely

Nurses Association of New Brunswick

Denise Gaudet

Regional Health Authority of Beauséjour

Gérène Gautreau

Nurses Association of New Brunswick

Kris Gauvin

Restigouche Health Authority

Cheryl Gibson

Nursing Faculty, Uuniversity of New Brunswick

Wendy Gould

Regional Health Authority of Acadie-Bathurst

Joanne Graham

Association of the New Brunswick Licensed Practical Nurses

Judith Hart

Atlantic Health Sciences Corporation

Marguerite Harvey

Member of the Nursing Resources Advisory Committee, representing the Association of the New Brunswick Licensed Practical Nurses

Mary-Lee Hébert

South-East Regional Health Authority

Paula Jones

Member of the Nursing Resources Advisory Committee, representing the New Brunswick Nurses Union

Pierrette Lavigne

Régie Acadie-Bathurst

France Marquis

École science infirmière, Université de Moncton Campus Edmundston, Chair of the Nursing Resources Advisory Committee

Barb McGill

Atlantic Health Sciences Corporation

Beth McGinnis

Public Health Services, Department of Health and Wellness

Tracey Newton

Hospital Services, Department of Health and Wellness

Roberte O'Regan

Regional Health Authority Four

Annette Osted

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Maurice Poirier

Facilitator, One World Inc.

Marilyn Quinn

New Brunswick Nurses Union

Kelly Rodgers-Sturgeon

Member of the Nursing Resources Advisory Committee, representing the Post-Secondary Education and Training Department



Joanne Rosevear

Planning and Medicare Services, Department of Health

Marie-Paule Roussel

Member of the Nursing Resources Advisory Committee, representing the New Brunswick Association of Nursing Homes

Lyne St. Pierre-Ellis

Planning and Medicare Services, Department of Health

Kevin Symes

Association of the New Brunswick Licensed Practical Nurses

Roxanne Tarjan

Nurses Association of New Brunswick

Bev Tedford

Member of the Nursing Resources Advisory Committee, representing Hospital Services, Department of Health and Wellness

Alice Thériault

Planning and Medicare Services, Department of Health and Wellness

Rosanne Thorne

Atlantic Health Sciences Corporation

Douglas Wheeler

Nurses Association of New Brunswick

Doug Wilson

River Valley Health

Newfoundland

Beverley Alcock

Hope – Mental Health Long-term Care

Angie Botstone

Department of Health and Community Services

Cathy Burke

Eastern Health

Regina Coady

Department of Health and Community Services

Dora Cooper

Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Health Information

Gail Downing

Eastern Health

Paul Fisher

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador

Debbie Forward

Newfoundland and Labrador Nurses Union

Eleanor Fowler

Labrador – Grenfell Regional Health Services

Rosemarie Goodyear

Central Health

Bev Griffiths

Department of Health and Community Services

Cheryl Harding

Department of Health and Community Services



Michelle Hatt

Central Health

Eileen Hewlett

Canadian Union of Public Employees

Clayton LeDrew

Notre Dame Bay Health Centre

Sandra Lefort

School of Nursing

Anita Ludlow

Department of Health and Community Services

Ann Manning

Eastern Health

Annette Osted

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Rosari Patey

Labrador - Grenfell Regional Health Services

Linda Robbins

Western Regional

Joan Rowsell

Centre for Nursing Studies

Suellen Sheppard

Department of Health and Community Services

Collette Smith

Eastern Health

Joy Struckless

Department of Health and Community Services

Trudy Struckless

Central Health

Gerri Thompson

Department of Health and Community Services

Andrew Wells

Department of Health And Community Services

Nova Scotia

Candy Allison

Saint Vincent's Guest House

Rick Anderson

Nova Scotia Department of Health

Paulette Babin

South West Health

Natalie Blanchet

Nova Scotia Department of Health

Sara Campbell

IWK Health Centre

Teri Crawford

College of Registered Nurses of Nova Scotia

Jacquie Dale

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Donna Denney

Nova Scotia Department of Health

Barbara Downe-Wamboldt

Dalhousie School of Nursing

Suzanne Foster

Dalhousie School of Nursing

Angela Gillis

St. Francis Xavier School of Nursing



Mary-Ellen Gurnham

Capital Health

Linda Hamilton

College of Registered Nurses of Nova Scotia

Janet Hazelton

Nova Scotia Nurses Union

Dennis Holland

Nova Scotia Department of Health

Jim Houston

Nova Scotia Department of Health

Chris LaBreche

Shannex Health Care

Lisa Little

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Wendy MacDonald

Victorian Order of Nurses

Sandra MacDonald-Rencz

Health Canada

Sue MacEachern

Colchester East Hants Health Authority

Allene MacIssac

St. Francis Xavier School of Nursing

Peggy MacNeil

Port Hawkesbury Nursing Home

Ann Mann

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Nova Scotia

Edith Menzies

Annapolis Valley Health

Danielle Mercier

Nova Scotia Department of Health

Liz Millett

Guysborough Antigonish Strait Health Authority

Cheryl Northcott

Cumberland Health Authority

Debi Osborne

Nova Scotia Nurses Union

Mary-Ellen Pittoello

Sunset Services Inc.

Sheila Profit

Cape Breton University

Karen Sigouin

Nova Scotia Community College

Linda Sirota

Nova Scotia Government and General Employees

Union

Joan Snow

Department of Community Services

Tina Thibeau

Nova Scotia Department of Health

Peter Vaughan

Nova Scotia Department of Health

Cathy Walls

IWK Health Centre

Wayne White

Shannex Health Care

Suellen Wilson

Victorian Order of Nurses



Bette Yetman

Cape Breton District Health Authority

Northwest Territories

Glen Abernethy

Financial Management Board Secretariat, Government of the Northwest Territories

Anna Beals

Tlicho Community Services Agency

Denise Bowen

Aurora College

Janice Daniels

South Mackenzie Corrections Centre

Colin Eddie

Sahtu Health and Social Services Authority

Judy Furlong

Beaufort-Delta Health and Social Services Authority

Sandra Lockey

Department of Health and Social Services, Government of the Northwest Territories

Annette Osted

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Celine Pellitier

Nurse Practitioner Student

Ruth Robertson

Yellowknife Health and Social Services Authority

Ophelia Spencer

Fort Smith Health and Social Services Authority

Faye Stark

Department of Health and Social Services, Government of the Northwest Territories

Wanda White

Department of Health and Social Services, Government of the Northwest Territories

Gayla Wick

Union of Northern Workers

Barbara Wyness

Union of Northern Workers

Ontario

Andrea Baumann

Nursing Health Sciences Research Unit, McMaster University

Lesley Bell

Ontario Nurses Association

Mona Black

Registered Practical Nurses Association of Ontario

Kathy Cook

College of Nurses of Ontario

Audrey Danaher

Council of Ontario University Programs in Nursing

Barbara Gough

Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities

Kathy Green

Practical Nurses Federation of Ontario

Joan Lesmond

Registered Nurses Association of Ontario



Lynn Macfie

Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care

Sue Matthews

Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care

Vicki McKenna

Ontario Nurses Association

Barb Mildon

Nursing Health Sciences Research Unit

Mary-Ann Murray

College of Nurses of Ontario

Valerie Russell

Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care

Sharon Sholzberg-Gray

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Jill Strauss

Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care

Dr. Joshua Tepper

Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care

Kileen Tucker-Scott

Council of Ontario University Programs in Nursing

Joanne Young-Evans

Registered Practical Nurses Association of Ontario

Prince Edward Island

Elaine Betts

Prince Edward Island Nurses Union – Home Care and Support

Mary Jane Callaghan

Home Care and Support

Elaine Campbell

Provincial Geriatrician Program

Dr. Kim Critchley

University of Prince Edward Island, School of

Nursing

Valerie Davies

Public Health Nursing

Judy Dennis

Prince Edward Home

Cheryl Doran

Community Hospital O'Leary

Faye Feener

Continuing Care, Summerside

Audrey Fraser

Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Hui Jun Sun

Beach Grove Home

Janet MacKeigan

Beach Grove Home

Cathy MacKinnan

Union of Public Sector Employees

Aleah MacLennan

Stewart Memorial Hospital

Rachel Matheson

Holland College



Nora McCabe

Home Care and Support

Dr. Gloria McInnis-Perry

Community Hospitals and Continuing Care Division,

Department of Health

Edna Miller

Souris Hospital

Valerie Nicholson

Public Health Nursing

Annette Osted

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Genevieve Poole

Prince Edward Island Licensed Practical Nurses

Regional Board

Marlene Robichaud

Colville Manor

Joan Savage

Public Health Nursing

Kim Stewart

Licensed Practical Nurses Association

Elizabeth Taylor

Provincial Addiction Treatment Facility

Pam Trainer

Prince Edward Island Department of Health

Joan Walsh

Community Hospitals and Continuing Care Division

Maria Ward

McGill Community Mental Health Centre

Shelley Woods

Prince Edward Home

Brenda Worth

Prince County Hospital

Yukon

Catherine Bradbury

Yukon Registered Nurses Association

Cecilia Fraser

Yukon Licensed Practical Nurse Association

Jan Horton

Department of Health and Social Services,

Government of Yukon

Lorraine Hoyt

Yukon College

Joy Kajiwara

Department of Health and Social Services,

Government of Yukon

Lisa Little

Nursing Sector Study Corporation

Patricia McGarr

Yukon Registered Nurses Association

Mike Pare

Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada

Carol Thomas

Yukon Employees Union

Colleen Wirth

Yukon Registered Nurses Association



Appendix C: Participants at the *Building the Future* Invitational Conference

Rob Alder

Med-Emerg Inc.

Robert Allen

Registered Psychiatric Nurses Association of

Saskatchewan

Liz Ambrose

Manitoba Health

Lucille Auffrey

Canadian Nurses Association

Chris Bailey

Saskatchewan Assocation of Licensed Practical

Nurses

Cynthia Baker

Queen's University

Susan Bingham

Conestoga College Institute of Technology and

Advanced Learning

Annie Boucher

Fuse Communications and Public Affairs Inc.

Anthony Brannen

Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Canada

Sheila Brown

Ontario Hospital Association

Jenny Buckley

Med-Emerg Inc

Heidi Bungay

Human Resources and Social Development Canada

Dawn Burnett

Canadian Physiotherapy Association

Lynda Buske

Canadian Medical Association

Marcia Carr

Fraser Health - Burnaby Hospital Site

Frank Cesa

Health Council of Canada

Irene Clarence

Mid-Main Community Health Centre

Diane Clements

Ministry of Health

CJ Cote

Department of Defense

Pat Cruickshank

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada

Donna Davis

Veterans Affairs Canada

Susan Dawe

New Brunswick Community College

Pierre de Montigny

Federal Healthcare Partnership

Donna Denney

Nova Scotia Department of Health

Kimberley Diamond

Yukon College

Jennifer Ellis

Canadian Health Services Research Foundation

Della Faulkner

Canadian Healthcare Association



Linda Ferguson

College of Nursing, University of Saskatchewan

Paul Fisher

Canadian Council of Practical Nurse Regulators

Debbie Forward

Newfoundland and Labrador Nurses Union

Loreen Foster

Registered Psychiatric Nurses Association of Alberta

Pamela Fralick

Canadian Physiotherapy Association

Audrey. L Fraser

Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Danielle Fréchette

The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of

Canada

Louise Frederick

Association of Canadian Community Colleges

Pat Fredrickson

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta

Katherine Fukuyama

Vancouver Community College

Darlene Furlong

Dryden Regional Health Centre

Arlene Gallant-Bernard

Prince County Hospital

Michael Garreau

Canadian Nursing Students Association

Don Getz

Union of Psychiatric Nurses

Céline Goulet

Université de Montréal – Faculté des sciences

infirnières

Dalyce Greenslade

Calgary Health Region

David Gregory

Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing

Pat Griffin

Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing

Doris Grinspun

Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario

Maureen Hancharyk

Manitoba Nurses' Union

Dana Hanson

Canadian Medical Association

Karen Hargreaves

Assiniboine Community College

Anna Helewka

Douglas College

Susan Hicks

Office of Nursing Policy, Health Canada

Donna Higenbottam

College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of British

Columbia

Tom Hodges

Health Employers Association of British Columbia



Verna Holgate

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Manitoba

Margaret Horn

Aboriginal Nurses Association of Canada

Sophia Ikura-MacMillan

Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care

Brenda Jacono

Atlantic Region, Canadian Association of Schools of

Nursing

Marcia James

Association Strategy Group

Mary Ellen Jeans

M. E. Jeans & Associates

Karen Jewell

Health Employers Association of British Columbia

George Kephart

Dalhousie University

Donna Klaliman

Canadian Association of Occupational Therapists

Janet Knox

Annapolis Valley District Health Authority

Marianne Lamb

School of Nursing, Queen's University

Carrie LaVallie

First Nations University of Canada

Gaétan Lévesque

Ordre des infirmières et infirmiers auxiliaires du

Québec

Noreen Linton

Calgary Health Region

Lisa Little

Canadian Nurses Association

Robert Lockhart

Grant MacEwan College - College of Registered

Psychiatric Nurses

Rosalee Longmoore

Saskatchewan Union of Nurses

Barbara Lowe

College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Alberta

Albert Mac Intyre

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Nova Scotia

Gordon MacDonald

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of British

Columbia

Sandra Macdonald-Rencz

Health Canada

Ann Mann

Canadian Council for Practical Nurse Regulators

Fred J Martin

Task Force Two

Rachel Matheson

Holland College

Judith Maxwell

Canadian Policy Research Networks

Patricia McGarr

Yukon Registered Nurses Association



Shirley McKay

Saskatchewan Registered Nurses Association

Vicki McKenna

Ontario Nurses' Association

Edith Menzies

College of Registered Nurses of Nova Scotia

Marie Mertler

Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada

Heather Mohr

Canadian Pharmacists Association

Sherry Moller

Union of Psychiatric Nurses

Judy Morrow

Nova Scotia Community College

Linda Moyneur

College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of British

Columbia

Susan D. Neilson

College of Registered Nurses of Manitoba

Linda O'Brien-Pallas

Nursing Health Services Research Unit

Barbara Oke

First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada

Janice O'Neill

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of

Newfoundland and Labrador

Carole Orchard

University of Western Ontario, School of Nursing

Annette Osted

Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Canada

Frances Palmer-Barlow

NorQuest College

Laura Panteluk

College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Manitoba

Roberta Parker

Alberta Health and Wellness

Jacinthe Pepin

Université de Montréal

Johanne Plante

Statistique Canada

Lucie Poliquin

Correctional Service of Canada

Genevieve Poole

Prince Edward Island Licensed Practical Nurses

Registration Board

Jason Powell

Humber Institute of Technology and Advanced

Learning

Lynn Power

Association of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland

and Labrador

Marilyn Quinn

New Brunswick Nurses Union

Sandra Regan

College of Registered Nurses of British Columbia

Kate Rexe

Canadian Federation of Nurses Unions



Glen Roberts

The Conference Board of Canada

Mary-Anne Robinson

College and Association of Registered Nurses of

Alberta

Garth Robson

Saskatchewan Association of Health Organizations

Linda Ross

Brandon University

Rosanne Rothenberg

College of Registered Psychiatric Nurses of British

Columbia

Francine Anne Roy

Canadian Institute for Health Information

Ellen Rukholm

Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing

Kim Ryan-Nicholls

Registered Psychiatric Nurses of Canada

Paul Sajan

Canadian Institute for Health Information

Dr. Hugh Scully

Canadian Medical Association

Judith Shamian

VON Canada

Anne Shannon

British Columbia Nurses' Union

Jennifer Shepherd

Association Strategy Group

Suellen Sheppard

Newfoundland and Labrador Health Boards

Association

Sharon Sholzberg-Gray

Canadian Healthcare Association

Linda Silas

Canadian Federation of Nurses Unions

Heather Smith

United Nurses of Alberta

Nicole Snow

Centre for Nursing Studies

Lyne St-Pierre-Ellis

New Brunswick Department of Health

Kevin Symes

Association New Brunswick Licensed Practical

Nurses

Marg Synyshyn

Winnipeg Regional Health Authority

Jean-Philippe Tabet

Human Resources and Social Development Canada

Lise Talbot

Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing

Deborah Tamlyn

Canadian Nurses Association

Roxanne Tarjan

Nurses Association of New Brunswick

Michel Tarko

Canadian Association of Registered Psychiatric Nurses



Andrew Taylor

Canadian Healthcare Association

Alice Thériault

Ministère de la Santé du Nouveau-Brunswick

Ginette Thériault

Ordre des infirmières et infirmiers du Québec

Jennifer Thornhill

Canadian Health Services Research Foundation

Judith Tompkins

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

Carla Troy

Public Health Agency of Canada

Susan Vandevelde Coke

Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre

Catherine Walsh

Prince Edward Island Department of Health

Sping Wang

University of Toronto

Arlene Wilgosh

Manitoba Department of Health and Wellness

Ruth Wold

College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta

